Submission to Family Law Legal Aid Services Review

By email to: familylawreview@vla.vic.gov.au
16 February 2015

Dear Sir/Madam,

Family Law Legal Aid Services Review

Thank you for the opportunity of responding to Victoria Legal Aid’s Consultation and Options paper on services provided within the Commonwealth family law jurisdiction.

In 2014, OPA made a submission that included reference to family law to the Australian Law Reform Commission’s discussion paper on Equality Capacity and Disability in Commonwealth Laws.  In 2013, we released a report titled  Whatever happened to the village?  The removal of children from parents with a disability.  Both these documents are available on the Office of the Public Advocate’s website.

The Office of the Public Advocate (OPA) is established under the Guardianship and Administration Act 1986 to promote the human rights and dignity of people with a disability.  To this end, we seek fair and just outcomes for people with disability when they are involved in legal processes, including parents involved in family law disputes.  With regard to this review, we do not wish to make a full submission but rather to comment on four matters that, in our view, particularly affect parents with a disability who seek family law legal aid services.

Representation

OPA admires the quality of the work done by in-house lawyers on behalf of parents with a disability and also the work of the Mental Health and Disability Advocacy Team within VLA.  We have worked closely and productively with this unit over many years.

For parents who receive grants of assistance through private practitioners, we have some concerns about the quality and consistency of the representation they receive.  It seems that most solicitors have little knowledge of disability or understanding of how disability can affect a parent going through a family law case.  They may also show little interest in acquiring this understanding, resulting in poorer outcomes for the parents and their children.  As an example, a view was expressed by one solicitor, where the mother had a mild intellectual disability, that disability was no different from having a drug addiction or a gambling habit.  All that mattered was whether the parent was able to “step up” and meet the needs of her children compared to her former partner or other family members who were seeking to have the children live with them.

OPA suggests that private practitioners representing parents with disability through VLA should be required to undergo professional education provided by the Mental Health and Disability Advocacy team and that this training should be updated on a yearly basis.  OPA suggests that the training should cover different types of disability, the distinction between disability and capacity, services available for parents with disability, concepts of disability rights and the research on parenting with a disability.

OPA supports the suggestion on page 36 of the report that VLA should maintain a list of preferred barristers and further suggests that it should list barristers who have undergone the professional education in disability referred to above. 

Independent Children’s Lawyers (ICLs)
OPA is aware of the importance and weight given to the opinions of ICLs in family court matters.  The issues raised in relation to representation also apply, in OPA’s view, to Independent Children’s Lawyers.  ICLs also need to have a good understanding of disability and its impact on parenting in cases where one of the parents has a disability.  If they do not, they may succumb to commonly held assumptions that parents with a disability are automatically less able to meet their children’s needs than those without a disability, and that parents who receive support for parenting or in relation to their disability are simply demonstrating that they are unable to parent independently.  The research does not support this view.

OPA suggests that ICLs appointed by the Court and receiving funding through VLA where one of the parents has a disability should also undergo the professional education referred to above. 

Disbursements
A diagnosis of disability does not mean that a person lacks parental capacity.  With the weight of opinion to the contrary amongst legal professionals, a parent with a disability is likely to need expert professional reports and assessments if they are to  obtain a fair and reasonable outcome in family court proceedings.  OPA does not consider that Family Report writers are equipped to properly assess the parenting capacity of parents with a disability within the framework of their operations.

Practitioners are generally pessimistic about their chances of obtaining VLA funding for expert reports and may decline to even apply for the funding.  If the parent does not have support or advocacy to assist them, they are most unlikely to know that such reports are important for their case.

OPA suggests that increased funding for expert professional reports be made available to counter potential discrimination against parents with a disability when the best interests of their children are being determined by the court.

Litigation guardianship

As VLA is aware, there is at present no program in Victoria providing funded litigation guardians for persons with cognitive disabilities in family court matters.  In a limited number of cases, the Office of the Public Advocate has taken on the role but generally a family member becomes the litigation guardian.  

There is a distinct lack of clarity about the role, responsibilities and possible liability of litigation guardians.  There is nothing available to guide them in their role and they are dependent on the advice of the solicitor in the case.  Please refer to the OPA report on this issue mentioned above.

Pending a satisfactory resolution of this problem and the establishment of funded litigation guardianship, OPA suggests that the Mental Health and Disability Advocacy Team be provided with the resources to advise both solicitors and litigation guardians on their respective roles in family court matters.

Thank you again for the opportunity of providing this response.

Yours sincerely,

Colleen Pearce.

Public Advocate
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